




CWH annual report   2020



 

 

 

Eora Nation 

The artwork captures the Eora Nation and the many waterways, sacred 
places and the clans that make up the Eora nation. A male and female 
Goanna, sacred to some clans across the nation, wander across the land 
peacefully searching for food and fresh water. The artwork allows us to 
reflect on the many tracks that connected the clans together through the 
year, coming together for gatherings and sacred ceremonies. The colours 
capture the colour of the land, its waterways and the natural environment. 

GRAHAM TOOMEY 
Eora Journey 

Wurramunga Clan of Wiradjuri 
nation/ Wongaibon nation 
Member Metropolitan Local 
Aboriginal Land Council. 
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City West Housing (CWH) resides on Gadigal Country. 

CWH wishes to acknowledge the Gadigal people as 

being the traditional custodians of the land and its water. 

CWH recognises that the Gadigal people have a  

continuing connection to their land, its water and  

to their culture. 

We pay our deepest respects to their elders, past, 

present and emerging. 



2020 has been another year of significant growth for CWH. With 
the completion of our two new developments in Glebe and Forest 
Lodge, this brings CWH’s total portfolio to nearly 900 affordable 
rental apartments, delivering on its mission of continuing to be a 
major provider of affordable housing in the City of Sydney. 

These additional 174 new households have been completed at a time when 

affordable rental housing is needed more than ever. 

The year also saw CWH acquire a further parcel of land in the Bayside Local 

Government Area adjacent to land acquired in 2019. With three building sites in our 

portfolio, and the potential to acquire one or two further sites, our focus now is all 

about planning and developing for our future growth. 

2020 also marks the end of my term as a Director of CWH. After some ten years, 

including three and a half of those as Chair, the time has come for me to make 

way for fresh ideas and new energy. While the Company has grown nearly four 

times in size over the past ten years, it is a very different business today compared 

to when I first stepped on to the Board. Although, in its soul, it is still the same 

value-based organisation helping to make a difference to people’s lives. 
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I leave CWH in the very capable hands of the 

current Directors and in particular the new 

Chair Diana D’Ambra who joined the Board in 

December 2018. With its continuing strong 

financial position, including an operating 

surplus of nearly $28m and cash and property 

assets of $641m, the Company is well placed 

to continue to grow, providing much more 

needed affordable housing. 

Diana D’Ambra 
New CWH Chair 

Acknowledgements 
The Board, and I would like to acknowledge the 

continued support of our Shareholder Ministers and their 

departments, the ongoing commitment of our Preference 

Shareholders and the collaborative approach of the City 

of Sydney in helping CWH work towards our shared goal 

of increasing affordable rental housing across the City of 
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FY2020 was an intense year 
for all our teams ... who 
managed to complete two 
developments and tenant 
them in the middle of a 
pandemic. 
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The agility with which the business responded to 

COVID-19 and navigated the changing financial 

circumstances of many of its residents gives me the 

utmost confidence in its future. 

Just to add to the achievements in 2020, the 

Company also signed a lease in May for new office 

premises, which will provide much needed expansion 

space for the growing team. The office will be 

relocating to its new premises in August 2020. 

Last, but by no means least, on behalf of the Board 

of Directors and the Executive Team we would like to 

thank all our residents whose regular feedback on 

how we are doing is critical to helping us to continue 

to improve our services. 

MIKE ROLLO 
CWH Chair 
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As I reflect on FY2020, 
the themes that emerge 
for CWH are ones of 
growth and resilience. 

CWH has come a long way since its establishment in 

June 1994, expanding from our roots in the Pyrmont 

Ultimo area and into other parts of the City - Green 

Square, Eveleigh, Alexandria, Zetland, Glebe and 

Forest Lodge. 

This year, CWH celebrated the delivery of another  

174 apartments in two different apartment buildings 

in inner Sydney, a growth in our portfolio of nearly 

25 percent.  Our ~900 apartments across 20 different 

buildings are now home to more than 1,630 residents 

and we continue to grow, with a strong development 

pipeline that includes our first project outside the City 

of Sydney in the Bayside Local Government Area. 

In addition to providing high-quality affordable 

housing to many more people, we were also able to 

meet the transfer needs of some of our residents 

whose existing accommodation no longer met their  

requirements. They had either outgrown their current 

property due to a change in household composition 

or because their existing property was unable to be 

modified to suit their changing needs. 
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With growth has come new 
partnerships, focused on 
providing additional benefits 
to our residents. 

The financial performance of the 

Company continues to remain strong. 

While the Company made a loss of 

~$20m, this was due to the devaluation 

of the property portfolio at year end, 

triggered by a decline in the fair value 

of a number of buildings based on 

current market conditions as well as 

adjustments made to reflect restrictions 

on title on our two latest developments. 

Despite this, FY2020 delivered a 

small growth in rental income and 

a significant growth in developer 

contributions over the prior year. 

The net surplus for the year was $27.7m, 

an increase of 63%. The Company 

continues to have a strong Balance 

Sheet with cash holdings of $198m and 

a property portfolio valued at $443m. 

Throughout the year, we have continued 

our focus on rental arrears and vacancy 

management. Our arrears and vacancy 

turnaround time performance dropped 

in the last three months of the financial 

year due to COVID-19 and a higher than 

usual number of internal transfers but 

as we approached 30 June this started 

to improve. 

With growth has come new 

partnerships, focused on providing 

additional benefits to our residents. Our 

new partners include car sharing service 

Go Get who is providing discounted 

membership for our residents, Valiant 

and Advantage furniture styling who 

have donated pre-loved furniture, 

Tangerine Telecom who have facilitated 

discounts on broadband and WAGEC, a 

homelessness service referring women 

in need of transitional housing. We 

also entered a new partnership during 

the year with TFE Hotels to provide 

discounted emergency accommodation 

11 
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and with My Connect who provide a one stop homes delivered for people on very low, low and 

shop for new CWH residents to help them moderate incomes. 

connect to utilities, internet and pay TV. CWH used its 25th anniversary to highlight  

The completion of our Glebe apartment the positive intergenerational impact that 

development, the Blackwattle apartments, high-quality, affordable housing has on 

also reflects the culmination of an existing families and children in urban centres like 

partnership with the NSW Government. This Sydney. The importance of secure affordable 

partnership saw all three tiers of Government housing for families and other households has 

been highlighted this year given the impacts working together alongside two community 
of COVID-19 on the economy and on people’s housing providers of which CWH was one, to 
livelihoods. convert 153 run down social housing units into a 

vibrant mixed community with social, affordable Our 26th year has seen us developing our 
and market housing. We were delighted to be resilience as we navigated what it means to 

able to deliver the final piece of that puzzle in the continue to provide services and to offer new 

Glebe affordable housing precinct, with 99 new homes to people in the middle of a pandemic. 

12 

CWH helps our residents to stay in their  
homes by matching their rent to their  
changing household circumstances. 
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The impacts of COVID-19 have been far reaching, not just 

for our residents but also CWH staff and the way we do 

business.  Our focus has been and remains our customers. 

Our ability to support our residents to stay in their homes 

and to continue to pay rent based on changing household 

circumstances is just one example of CWH’s value proposition.  

As one of our new residents in our Blackwattle apartments stated, 

I am so grateful every single day, more so now in our current 

climate, that if anything happens to my job, City West Housing has 

my back…you cannot imagine how much weight and stress that 

takes off me, after having gone through my homeless journey  

which taught me the true meaning of resilience. 

In the last few months of this financial year and at a rapid pace, CWH   

had to automate its apartment viewing and sign up processes and navigate 

how to do business online.  We did this in parallel with having to process 

more than 150 resident initiated rent reviews, triggered by a change in 

their household income as a direct result of COVID-19.  While CWH is not 

alone in having had to rapidly change the way we do things and to deal  

with the additional demands on its time, I am proud of the way the staff 

approached these challenges whilst also keeping a focus on other aspects 

of service delivery and simultaneously navigating working from home. 

Continuing our focus on service delivery, in FY2021 we will implement 

our new Customer Service Charter and commence rolling out our digital  

services platform, which includes a tenant portal.  The groundwork for  

the portal was laid this financial year with the upgrade of our website. 

Our focus into the future remains on the customer and ensuring  

that we have the right operating model and systems to achieve  

strong customer satisfaction and execute our Strategic Plan. 

LEONIE KING 
CWH CEO 

13 



14

Ou
r r

es
ide

nt
 co

mm
un

ity



CWH annual report   2020

15

Through their eyes

Mary-Jane shares her experience

When Mary-Jane embarked on a law degree, she had a clear goal in mind:  

to live in her own home by the time she graduated.

As a sole parent and student, I knew I couldn’t afford to rent an  

apartment in Sydney's Inner West. My son and I had been living  

with my parents for the last 2 years, but I had always wanted to be  

in our own place by the time I graduated.

Having lived in Leichhardt my whole life, I wanted to stay in the area.

After hearing how her sister had been offered an apartment with CWH in  

a timely fashion from when she applied, Mary-Jane decided to submit her  

life-changing application. 

Her son needed room to play and be a noisy nine year-old, and Mary-Jane 

was ready for space of her own. So, when she received the exciting news her 

application with CWH had been approved, it was time to part ways with her 

parents and set up her own home.

Living with City West Housing, I have regained my independence  

and am able to look to future options for housing and even eventually  

the private property market as a buyer. It has truly boosted my  

confidence and my financial capabilities.

Currently working as a paralegal until she is admitted as a lawyer,  

Mary-Jane is passionate about the need for more affordable housing  

to help people in a similar situation to herself. 

According to Mary-Jane,          

There is definitely a need for more affordable housing in Inner Sydney, 

particularly for working families who may not be aware that, as a low 

income earner, they may be eligible for housing. 



OUR 

residents

OUR 

staff

1,633
TOTAL NUMBER 
OF RESIDENTS

MAIN SOURCE OF INCOME

42% 58%
EMPLOYMENT CENTRELINK 

OR OTHER

INCOME BANDS

57% 30% 13%
VERY LOW LOW MODERATE

AGE OF OUR % % % % %
RESIDENTS 0-17 YEARS 18-34 YEARS 35-54 YEARS 55-74 YEARS 75+ YEARS

62% 38%
WOMEN MEN

38% 54% 8% AGE OF 
OUR 

18-34 Yrs 35-54 Yrs 55+ Yrs STAFF

60%
FEMALE

40%
MALE

27 20 30 20 3

10% 22% 13%
ABORIGINAL & CURRENTLY DISABILITY 

TORRES STRAIT STUDYING 
ISLANDER 

As at 30 June 2020, CWH had 26.8 
full-time equivalent staff with a staff 
retention rate of 81%.

LENGTH OF TIME WORKING AT CWH

< 3 yrs 3—5 Yrs > 6 Yrs

 80%  12%  8%

WHAT LANGUAGES CAN WE SPEAK ?

ENGLISH     CANTONESE     MANDARIN     MALAYALAM     
TAMIL     HINDI      ROMANIAN     GREEK     SINHALA

WHERE WERE AUSTRALIA     ENGLAND     ROMANIA 
OUR STAFF NEW ZEALAND     INDIA     HONG KONG 

BORN? USA     MALAYSIA     SRI LANKA
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OUR 

properties

ZETLANDZETLAND

WATERLOOWATERLOO

EVELEIGHEVELEIGH

CHIPPENDALECHIPPENDALE

THE ROCKSTHE ROCKS

SYDNEYSYDNEY

GLEBEGLEBE

FOREST LODGEFOREST LODGE

ULTIMOULTIMO

pyrmont

ALEXANDRIAALEXANDRIA

17

1,633
RESIDENTS OCCUPY

894
APARTMENTS IN 

20 BUILDINGS

UPCOMING 
DEVELOPMENTS
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tachometer-fastest
90%

OVERALL RESIDENT 
SATISFACTION 

8%
TENANCY 

TURNOVER Clipboard-list-check

429 
APPLICANTS

WAITING LIST 
DEMAND

38 days
UNTENANTABLE

19 days
TENANTABLE

99%
OCCUPANCY RATE 

building

2.1%
 RENTAL 
ARREARS

2020 CWH 
Performance 
summary



CWH annual report   2020

cash of 
$198.3m

A DECREASE  
OF 7% ON THE 

PRIOR YEAR

Average 
rent 

PER APARTMENT 6% 
LOWER THAN BUDGET.   

DOWN 10% ON THE 
PRIOR YEAR

Developer  UP 79%  

contributions 
ON THE PRIOR 

YEAR

Repairs and 27% LOWER THAN 
BUDGET, DOWN  

maintenance 13.8% ON THE  
PRIOR YEAR

$27.7M Net 
Surplus

BUDGET  
EXCEEDED  

BY 117%  

Rental 
income 

15% LOWER  
THAN BUDGET.  

UP 0.8% ON THE 
PRIOR YEAR

Capital 
expenditure 

COMPLETION OF 
BLACKWATTLE AND 

IRONBARK DEVELOPMENTS 
IN FY2020

investment 
return 
1.15% RETURN  

ON CASH

2020 financial  
PERFORMANCE
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When Chris returned to inner-city Sydney My life has changed dramatically 

to care for his unwell father, he rented  since moving into City West Housing. 

a place privately so he could focus his I feel part of a community again. 

spare time on caring for him. While this My neighbours have been a great 

caused him some financial stress, the assistance in helping me settle in  

decision to be close to his father  and I feel safer than ever. 

was more important. The City West Housing staff are 

After his father died, Chris tried to find wonderful! They are an absolute delight 

to work with and made my transition to affordable housing options in the inner 
my current home a seamless one.city. He needed a place that was close to 

work and was advised by a Housing NSW Currently working at St George Hospital 
advocate to contact CWH to see if they as a wards person, Chris is passionate 

could find him a home. about increasing the number of affordable 

housing developments in the City of I had not previously heard of the good 
Sydney. He believes that more affordable people associated with City West 
housing solutions would continue to foster 

Housing and was excited to see if they 
community spirit and make Sydney an 

could help me build the next chapter of 
even greater place to live. 

my life and to stay close to where my 

father lived for so long. I am only too willing to recommend the 

organisation to anyone willing to listen 
Chris was successful in his CWH 

and based on how City West Housing 
application and moved into his Ultimo 

operates I know they will continue to 
property, giving him ample space and 

supply this generosity to many more. 
access to “the best public transport system 

Ultimately, I am just happy to be a 
in the world.” 

resident of City West Housing and be 

Chris was overwhelmed by the support and a member of such an inclusive and 

generosity of the community around him. welcoming community. 
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Through their eyes

Chris shares his story



CWH annual report   2020

21

The City West Housing 
staff are wonderful! 
They are an absolute 
delight to work with 
and made my transition 
to my current home a 
seamless one.
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Meeting housing need 
In March 2020, construction was completed on the Blackwattle apartments 

in Glebe, adding 99 affordable apartments to our portfolio. The Blackwattle 

building is part of the Glebe Affordable Housing Project Cowper Street 

redevelopment, which has replaced 153 outdated social housing flats with a 

mix of 495 social, affordable and market apartments. NSW Land and Housing 

Corporation vested the land for affordable housing to CWH, with developer 

contributions from the City of Sydney Affordable Housing Plan helping fund 

the cost of construction. The Blackwattle building is the dedicated affordable 

housing component of this urban renewal project, delivering 99 rental 

apartments that will be rented affordably in perpetuity. 

Managing 99 new residents to view apartments, sign up and move in during 

COVID-19 required extra consideration to ensure the health and safety of staff 

and residents. We staggered the sign ups and move-ins to maintain social 

distancing and implemented additional cleaning of high traffic areas such as 

lifts. Despite the challenges, we achieved 100% occupancy within 8 weeks.

delivering growth  
and sustainability
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The building was shortlisted for the NSW 2020 

Architecture Awards in the Multiple Housing 

category and received a commendation. 

It has also since been shortlisted in the Medium 

Density and Affordable Housing categories 

of the UDIA 2020 Awards for Excellence. This 

recognition demonstrates that subsidised rental 

housing can still be high quality and provide 

great amenity for residents.

Blackwattle
GLEBE

99 APARTMENTS

Shortlisted by Australian 
Institute of Architects for 2020 

NSW Architecture Award
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75 new apartments in our Ironbark 

development at Harold Park were 

completed in June 2020. New residents 

will be moving into the apartments in the 

coming financial year. 

The Ironbark building is the final stage of 

the redevelopment of the former Harold 

Park Paceway and Rozelle Tram Depot. 

This project would not have been possible 

without the City of Sydney reserving a 

parcel of land for affordable housing in the 

renewal master plan and offering the site at 

a concessional rate.

ironbark
FOREST LODGE (HAROLD PARK)

75 APARTMENTS

Ironbark Apartments is the 
final stage of the Harold Park 

precinct redevelopment. 

24
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New opportunities
During the year we finalised the acquisition  

of two adjacent development sites in the heart 

of Rockdale Town Centre, close to essential 

services and the Rockdale train station. 

Concept design work has begun on these 

sites to prepare for a development approval 

application. This work will draw on design 

guidelines, created during the year, based on 

our experience and feedback from existing 

residents about what changes they would  

like in their current apartments.

recognition in two recent 
industry development and design 
awards demonstrates that 
subsidised rental housing can 
still be high quality and provide 
great amenity for residents.
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Supporting future growth
In August 2019, CWH implemented changes to one way we calculate rents and  

conduct rent reviews for all new residents. 

During the year, CWH continued to consult extensively with existing residents about 

these reforms which will see CWH fall in line with the rest of the community housing 

sector in its treatment of Commonwealth Rent Assistance (CRA) and other income 

support payments. Existing residents (pre-August 2019) have been given until 

February 2021 to adjust to the changes. CWH will continue to work with residents 

during the transition period, assisted by support providers.

At 30 June 2020, CWH had nine commercial tenants in our portfolio. The rental income 

from commercial tenants diversifies our revenue to support the growth of affordable 

homes we can provide. After the pandemic hit, we offered our commercial tenants 

rental assistance, supporting them to remain in business during this challenging time. 

To address the increase in arrears at Christmas, we once again ran a successful rent 

competition to encourage and reward residents who keep their rent account in advance 

during this period.

An ongoing focus on rent arrears management helped us deliver a strong performance 

in this area, despite the significant number of residents (more than 140) who lost 

partial or full employment due to COVID-19 and the resulting arrears that accrued 

on the accounts. At 30 June 2020, our rental arrears were 2.10%, below the industry 

benchmark of 2.5% and steadily improving from a peak in March/April.

There were a higher than normal number of vacants this year, in part because of our 

two new developments coming on line between March and the end of June and the 

impacts of COVID-19. There was also a proactive strategy to relocate existing CWH 

residents and their families who were over occupying their current apartment or 

needed to relocate on mobility or domestic violence grounds. 
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At 30 June 2020, the average turn around time 

was 19 days for tenantable properties and 38 

days for untenantable properties. The sharp rise 

in vacant turnaround times can be attributed to:

» delays in securing tradespeople

» delays in securing some supplies of building 

materials

» needing to conduct a full clean of every vacant 

property prior to any work commencing to 

reduce potential exposure to COVID-19, and 

» the unwillingness of some applicants to  

view or relocate to a new property in the  

current climate

In December 2019 CWH finished a three-year 

$2.6m program to bring every building within our 

portfolio up to current fire regulations standards, 

completing all Fire Orders. 

We also continued with our lifecycle preventative 

maintenance program on all apartments, with a 

focus on resident safety and wellbeing. 

Important safety work this year included:

» window lock compliance testing

» residual-current device compliance testing

» building audits of Emergency Management Plans

Driving an efficient business
In a year that required almost 1,000 rent 

reviews, of which around 15% were initiated 

by the resident due to a change in their 

circumstances, we also improved the rent 

review process, simplifying forms, making 

reviews less frequent for some households and 

reducing evidence requirements about proof of 

income for some income types. 

At the peak of the NSW lockdown restrictions, 

we also temporarily adjusted the Finance team 

structure to cope with the significant number 

of additional requests for rent reviews. This 

allowed us to significantly reduce rent review 

turnaround times. 

During the year, we changed our project 

planning process so we could capture the 

lessons learnt from recently completed 

development projects. The changes to 

the process will inform how our future 

development projects are completed.

We also made significant improvements to 

our budgeting model, improving accuracy and 

streamlining the budgeting process. 
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Over the past 12 months the Assets team have been 

working on integrating the CCTV and Access Control 

into the office, including:de
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UPGRADING 
THE SYSTEMS 

ON SITE

22

INSTALLING 
INTERNET AND 
FIREWALLS TO 

ENSURE A SECURE
NETWORK

 

33

INSTALLING 
SOFTWARE TO BE 
ABLE TO ACCESS 

THE SYSTEMS 
CENTRALLY
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The software that we have installed and upgraded to is the first of its kind in 

Australia. CWH has been working with Integrity and our contractors to upgrade 

software to allow for multiple sites to be accessed from one central location. We 

now have the flexibility to: 

» program and unprogram access cards to the buildings instantly – an improvement 
from the previous two days tunaround time

» track who has entered the building and provide feedback to Housing Managers

» integrate the CCTV and Access Control system allowing for the retrieval of footage 

» book in bulk waste pick ups for our buildings by reviewing the live camera feeds

» view CCTV cameras across our network in the event there is a need for  
an emergency evacuation
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As he approached retirement, James had to Previously I was traveling for up to an hour 

consider where to settle down and how to spend each way from Meadowbank, usually by 

his new found free time. Having visited Australia train or ferry which ultimately reduced the 

many times for over 30 years, in 2011 he made time I could commit to seeing friends or 

the decision to move to Australia and reside here family. Now I can reach anywhere in the 

permanently. However, the plan to live with his city by foot quickly, which I really enjoy 

partner on her property in Australia changed because it benefits my overall health. I’ve 

when the couple made the decision to part ways. even sold my car recently because I don’t 

need it anymore!James shared a friend's apartment for a short 

while and began setting up his new life in James works for Visitor Services for the City 

Australia, finding work, establishing a strong of Sydney and understands with the current 

group of friends, and becoming an Australian economic climate that there are more and 

citizen in 2016. But when his friend sold the more people out there who need help finding 

apartment, James realised he needed his own somewhere affordable to live. 

accommodation in Australia. He had the urge I wish the local and federal governments 
to create a place he could truly call his own. would encourage the development of 

It was funny actually, I happened upon the more affordable housing rather than that 

City West Housing stand at a fair day several of ‘investment apartments’ which seem 

years ago and remember how helpful to stand empty. Affordable housing has 

and friendly the team there were. After provided me with stability at a time where 

remembering this, I decided to apply for I needed it most, so I wish for others to be 

an apartment with City West Housing and able to have access to something as life 

was successful! I feel enormously lucky to changing as a secure home. 

be a part of the City West Housing family, 

especially at my age.

Having secured a stable home for himself with 

CWH, James is now able to travel to work with 

the ease of a 20 minute walk. 

Through their eyes

James shares his experience
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Strengthening customer service
Before COVID-19, CWH was providing outreach services to residents from 

a community room in one of our buildings in Zetland, enabling residents to 

talk to staff in person and to drop off paperwork. Post COVID prompted a 

review of the way we communicate to residents, with CWH initiating SMS 

messaging to be able to communicate quickly and widely to residents.

Lockdown restrictions also led to a review of the way CWH conducted viewings 

and sign ups for vacant apartments. Commencing with the new Ironbark 

development in Forest Lodge, CWH created 3D photos of every apartment to 

facilitate viewings by prospective residents and an electronic sign up process 

which went live for the first Ironbark resident who signed up in late June.

Engaging with   
our customers 
and communities 

90% 

SATISFACTION 
WITH HOUSING 

SERVICES OVERALL 

87% 

SATISFACTION 
WITH PROPERTY 

CONDITION 

82% 

SATISFACTION 
WITH REPAIRS AND 

MAINTENANCE

all are above the NRSCH 75% benchmark
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Keeping residents in the loop 
Throughout the year, we held onsite forums with residents 

at three of our apartment buildings to keep them informed 

about capital works upgrades. 

The forums ensure residents understand the nature and 

timing of the projects being undertaken in their buildings, 

allowing them to speak directly to the Asset team, ask 

questions and have any concerns heard. This was in 

addition to our annual resident forum, held in November 

each year, and communication via our resident (tenant 

voice) group and quarterly resident newsletters.
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Supporting our residents
To measure the impact of affordable housing on residents’ quality of life, CWH asks 

people to complete the Australian Centre on Quality of Life’s Personal Wellbeing Index 

(PWI) check just before and six weeks after people join us. The PWI scale contains 

seven items of satisfaction, each one corresponding to a quality of life domain 

as: standard of living, health, achieving in life, relationships, safety, community-

connectedness, and future security. During the year the scores increased for 83% of 

new residents after they were housed by an average of 13 percentage points. 

Also during the year, we continued to build our referral networks by inviting support 

service providers to attend team meetings to discuss their offerings and explain how 

to make referrals. As a result, CWH referred residents to a range of services including: 

Aged Care, Disability Services, Financial Assistance, Children’s Services, Mental 

Health and Hoarding and Squalor services. We also used our resident support budget 

to assist households to set up new homes, including helping with removal costs and 

purchasing household goods.

In March 2020, we ran workshops with more than 40 older residents (aged over 

55), who make up a significant proportion of community housing households, to 

help us plan for their needs. We asked our residents whether they feel connected 

to their local community, about their access to learning and community services 

and about the physical environment in their apartments. Next year, we will release 

a report outlining our plans, informed by these workshops, to help these residents 

successfully age in place.

In partnership with Redfern’s Women’s and Girls’ Emergency Centre, we converted 

a studio apartment into transitional housing for women impacted by homelessness. 

An interior designer helped us to ensure that the apartment follows trauma informed 

design principles given many of the women who will live there are likely to have 

experienced domestic and family violence. The first resident moved in during July 2020.
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Making places people are proud of

Build Your Neighbourhood

At CWH, we are passionate about helping to create 

neighbourhoods where our residents feel at home, 

can pursue their interests, and contribute towards 

building their local community. 

At the November 2019 resident forum, we launched 

the Build Your Neighbourhood program, providing 

grants for projects that: bring people together, 

create more positive spaces, benefit the community 

and promote health, happiness and wellbeing for 

our residents. We will announce the first tranche of 

projects at the resident forum in November this year.

Community Impact Awards

After hearing uplifting stories of residents looking 

out for each other during the pandemic, we also 

launched the Community Impact Awards to celebrate 

CWH residents who are making a significant impact 

on the people around them. The inaugural winners 

will again be announced at this year’s resident forum.

Maintaining buildings to a high standard

During the year, we replaced balconies and  

washed down external facades, upgraded the 

lighting in common area carparks, upgraded 

kitchens and continued our painting program. 

To ensure contractors are completing maintenance 

work to a high standard, we continued to conduct 

phone and site audits, completing 666 inspections 

and quality audits during the year. 

Audits were conducted on a sample of smaller, 

less time critical jobs along with 100% of work 

costing more than $10,000, or requested urgently 

(within 4 or 24 hours). This keeps our contractors 

accountable and ensures residents receive timely 

maintenance on urgent issues.

CWH annual report   2020
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To encourage residents to recycle and reduce landfill, 

we've redesigned the waste and recycling areas by 

colour coding the walls, updating the signage in multiple 

languages with pictures so as to better communicate with 

our diverse resident community.

In the coming year we will continue to:

» upgrade the CCTV systems across all  

apartment complexes

» upgrade the Access Control systems allowing  

easier programming

» upgrade all the waste areas with painting and signage

» continue with bi-lock upgrades to the remaining 

apartments in the portfolio 

Contributing to socially 
inclusive communities

Following a recommendation by the Tenant events to promote social inclusion, including:

Voice Group, resident noticeboards were Sunday Best – We partnered with the City of 
installed to help connect communities within Sydney to bring our residents and the wider 
our buildings. Residents now have a spot community this event, encouraging people 
where they can put up details about events or to meet their neighbours in a relaxed, fun 
promote their small business. environment with live entertainment while 

 At the start of lock down the noticeboards sharing good conversation and good food. 

also became a forum where residents could Fair Day – At the opening weekend of the 
check in with each other or ask for help with Sydney Gay & Lesbian Mardi Gras, CWH 
shopping or picking up medicines if they were hosted a stall with interested residents to help 
ill or needed to isolate. promote affordable housing options to the 

During the year, we also organised community LGBTQI + community.
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We continued to participate in PUNS, 

the Pyrmont Network of Services 

(PUNS), collaborating with local service 

organisations, including Mission Australia; 

NSW Police; Sydney Multi-cultural 

Services; Ultimo Community Garden; 

Pyrmont Cares; Anglicare; St. Vincent de 

Paul and the Benevolent Society. 

The aim of PUNS is to build trust in the 

community and to seek to empower local 

residents to guide decision making to 

improve their overall health and wellbeing. 

We are also active participants in the Green 

Square Network along with other local 

service providers.
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When Amanda* fled physical and emotional to free up financial resources for healthcare 

domestic violence 25 years ago and moved to and more nutritious food.
inner Sydney, she desperately needed a safe 

As a mature age student completing a health 
place she could call home. In the private rental 

sciences degree, moving into stable affordable 
market a lack of security and rising rents had a 

housing has meant Amanda can focus more 
detrimental effect on Amanda’s health and well-

on her studies, so much so that she has seen a being. By November 2019, Amanda was paying 
dramatic improvement in her university results. more than 45% of her income in rent.

Amanda has become more involved in community There was a time where I was forced to decide 
activities through CWH and is excited to give whether to spend money on dental care or 

on rent. It was an awful situation. I made the back to her new-found community as COVID-19 

decision then to pack up my apartment, put restrictions ease. 

my gear in storage and stay with friends while City West Housing has provided hope 
looking for more affordable housing. and the possibility of a better life. The 

That was when a friend told her about CWH.  effects of affordable housing on residents 
Family members, including children, were are significant. Affordable housing truly 
residents of CWH and had thrived since moving supports and maintains healthy, vibrant and 
in. After applying, Amanda had an anxious wait for productive communities.
an apartment to become available and was finally 

Amanda is keenly aware how important 
offered one in April 2020. 

affordable housing is to her life and would like to 
I am so thankful I was thrown a lifeline and see more affordable housing in the future. 
offered an apartment. Moving into City West 

I believe it is essential for Sydney’s recovery Housing has had a dramatic effect on my life 
from the COVID-19 fallout and the well-being and given me a fresh start. It has had multiple 

positive effects on my health and well-being, of our society to increase affordable housing 

provided me with stability, increased my sense developments. I think people who live in 

of security, relieved stress and improved my affordable housing are more likely to thrive 

physical and mental health. I’ve also been able socially, academically and professionally.

 * Name changed to protect her privacy

Through their eyes

Amanda shares her experience
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Building our profile 

managing   
key relationships

CWH maintains strong relationships with employer groups in the area to help us 

find residents. During the year, we promoted our services to new Police recruits 

likely to be assigned to a local station in the catchment area. We also directly 

marketed to local nurses, teachers, child care workers and other emergency 

services staff, with a number of essential services workers taking up residence in 

our two new developments.

As usual, CWH received queries from many stakeholders, including the UDIA 

Legends and Legacy members, property professionals, leading apartment 

developers and UNSW planning students, interested in understanding what 

affordable housing is, who is affordable housing built for, the product we deliver 

and the constraints associated with its delivery. 

These queries led to us conducting a number of site tours of our new 

developments for staff from a range of different organisations including the Land 

and Housing Corporation, Landcom, the City of Sydney, Randwick and Bayside 

Councils. CWH also hosted Housing Policy and Finance students from UNSW at 

the Blackwattle apartments in Glebe.

Management continues to participate in industry briefings, reference groups and 

conference panels. In the coming year, we will continue to build relationships with a 

range of parties interested in tackling the challenges of delivering affordable housing.
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New partnerships
In 2019-20, we continued to form new partnerships 

to support our residents :

Valiant Interiors 

Thanks to the generosity of this property styling 

company, we were able to furnish a number of 

apartments for new residents with few possessions, 

by re-purposing pre-loved display furniture. This 

diverted the furniture from being disposed to landfill 

while filling a critical need for residents. 

I just feel so lucky, I feel like after all the ups  

and downs I’ve finally been given the fresh  

start I’ve dreamed about.

New CWH Resident

41
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GoGet

Through a partnership with GoGet, many 

CWH buildings now have local GoGet car 

share spaces, saving residents transport 

costs and reducing environmental impacts. 

CWH residents and staff can also now join 

the GoGet car sharing service for free, saving 

the annual membership fee, gaining access 

to competitive rates. For our new buildings, 

GoGet also provided utility vans for residents 

to hire for their moving needs. In future, we 

will aim to include car sharing spaces within 

all new developments, providing a valuable 

amenity for both our residents and the 

broader community.

City West has done a fantastic job  

delivering affordable housing for key 

workers in Glebe, Green Square, Pyrmont 

and Ultimo. By providing housing below 

private market rates, they help relieve  

the financial pressure faced by so many 

people and families today.

Clover Moore 
Lord Mayor of Sydney

Advantage Styling

 In December 2019, property styling company 

Advantage held a free ‘garage sale’ for CWH 

residents, delivering more than 300 items 

of rental and display furniture. CWH staff 

and family volunteered their time to find 

new homes for these pieces, with delighted 

residents selecting couches, chairs, rugs, and 

accessories to decorate their homes. 

Tangerine

For residents in our new buildings, we 

partnered with Tangerine Telecom to relieve 

the up front financial burden for residents 

having to pay for internet connection. 

We also partnered with TFE Hotels to help 

provide quality temporary accommodation to 

CWH residents. Recognising the importance 

of affordable housing, TFE offers CWH access 

to high-quality serviced apartments at a 

discounted rate for our residents when they 

have to be temporarily relocated.
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Our suppliers and 
contractors
During the year, we established 

an architect panel for designing 

new developments. Following an 

extensive tender process in August 

2019, Grant Thornton was appointed 

as our new internal auditor. We 

also put out a new tender for our lift 

maintenance contract, which was 

awarded to ThyssenKrupp elevators.

In the coming year we will be 

tendering for maintenance, lawns, 

grounds and cleaning services.

Housing policy and practice
This year, CWH reviewed a number of state and local housing 

policies, advocating for more purpose-built affordable housing. 

Senior management participated in Powerhousing’s numerous 

Communities of Practice and the NSW Community Housing 

Industry Association’s networking groups.

We provided submissions to a range of state and local government 

discussion papers, including the NSW Productivity Commission’s 

Discussion Paper on Kickstarting the Economy, and were invited 

to provide input into the draft Place Strategy for the Pyrmont 

Peninsula. We also continued to share our experience with local 

councils preparing affordable housing strategies. 

CWH participated in a Community Housing Industry Association 

working group to develop a new Schedule of Rates for maintenance 

services and will be the first community housing provider to use 

the new rates when we tender for our new Head Maintenance 

contract in the second half of 2020.

To raise awareness of affordable housing our Head of Development 

was featured in a Talking Architecture & Design podcast discussing 

the challenges of the affordable housing sector. Following the 

podcast, she was also a speaker at the 2019 Sustainability Live 

Summit session ‘Adaptive Re-Use for a more sustainable Building 

sector’. Our CEO was part of the reference group for Landcom’s 

Affordable Housing Demonstration Project and continues to sit on 

the Board of the industry peak body. In the coming year, the CWH 

team will continue to seek new platforms through which to further 

promote affordable housing.
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For a woman accustomed to a nomadic lifestyle, Louise says her new home with CWH provides 

the thought of settling down to Louise was a her with ample space, immense comfort and 

new kind of adventure. Having dedicated so even allows her to participate in online yoga 

much of her life to assisting homeless people classes in the middle of the lounge room while 

find and sustain their homes, the time came  the fresh air breezes through her balcony door.

for Louise to seek one for herself. This is fabulous living. My new home  

However, Louise’s start to finding a home was with City West Housing is beautiful, 

disheartening. She quickly discovered that comfortable, secure and safe.

private rentals gave her very few options in Making her new CWH apartment a home  
terms of size, proximity to work and affordability. has given Louise a sense of security with  

I wanted a nice space where my her living situation. 

grandchildren felt comfortable to come  I feel very blessed to have a housing option 
and visit, but the private rental market that is close to where I work and gives me 
meant I could only afford smaller housing options of both walking to the train station 
options outside of the city.        and catching the bus right on my doorstep 

As an Aboriginal woman from the Wiradjuri for my daily commute. 

people, Louise places a lot of importance on Louise is keen to support further developments 
community. Not wanting to leave her local area of affordable housing so more people like 
she was at a loss in her search for a home, until her can continue to live where they work and 
a colleague introduced her to CWH. survive on lower wages. 

When my colleague told me she was I am very happy and grateful.  
a resident at City West Housing, I was Thank you, City West.
surprised as she had full-time employment. 

I began to look into whether I was eligible  

to become a resident with City West 

Housing and thankfully I was!
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Through their eyes

louise shares her story
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Organisational capacity
During the year, the NSW Community Housing Industry 

Association provided training to both Housing Services and 

Assets staff on how to recognise the signs of domestic and family 

violence (DFV), how to engage with affected residents and 

how to amend service delivery to respond to DFV. Staff are now 

working to improve our detection of and response to this issue.

There were also other learning and development initiatives 

undertaken, including training for all staff in privacy legislation, 

leadership coaching for senior managers and project 

management fundamentals.

supporting  
our people
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Investing in our people
During the year, we identified bigger premises in Pyrmont that 

will provide the office space required to match CWH’s portfolio 

growth. The new space will include larger work areas and 

reduced touch points to support social distancing, as well as 

additional staff amenities, such as a wellness room, generous 

desk layouts and improved audio visual equipment enabling 

the use of Teams meetings. Our new reception area will offer 

new visitor amenities, such as increased accessibility, a visitor 

computer, kids’ corner and drop in meeting rooms. Staff are 

looking forward to moving in to our new office premises in 

August 2020. 

At the start of 2020, we introduced a new Flexible Work Policy  

to support:

» Improved staff wellbeing and work life balance, leading to 
reduced sick leave

» Greater buy in and commitment from staff

» Better attraction and retention of skilled staff

» Better customer experience through high levels of staff 
satisfaction

We also amended our leave policy to include three days  

paid leave for any staff who may experience Domestic and 

Family Violence.

Having embedded our new Flexible Work policy before the 

pandemic hit, we had a smooth transition to a modified policy, 

with most staff working from home most of the time. We will 

continue to monitor and adjust the Flexible Work Policy with 

learnings from our COVID-19 experience.
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Rising star
In late 2019, in recognition of her commitment to the 

industry, CWH Development Manager, Priscilla Tran, 

was also the recipient of the Urban Development 

Institute of Australia (UDIA) NSW Young Leaders' 

Award for Excellence. 

Later in the year, Priscilla was named a Rising Star by 

PowerHousing Australia. Priscilla has demonstrated 

a longstanding commitment to the property industry, 
volunteering her time as a member of the: UDIA Urban 

Development Committee, Property Industry Foundation 

Future Leaders Committee, Anglican Church Property 

Trust Major Works Committee and Australian Property 

Institute Young Property Professional Committee. 

A youth leader in her local community, Priscilla 

embodies the passion and tenacity required to deal with 

the challenges of delivering affordable housing. 
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Focusing on continuous improvement
CWH again took part in the annual House Keys benchmarking exercise 

conducted by the State’s peak body for the Community Housing Industry 

Association of NSW.

We also developed a new approach to managing projects through 

streamlined initiation, planning, implementation and closure. We now 

have a standardised, step-by-step process to manage projects from 

end-to-end, supported by templates and guidelines. In the coming year, 

we will develop a similar change management approach.

In July 2019, CWH implemented improvements to the receipting of 

rental income. The new process eliminated considerable time each day 

in receipting to allow for a more accurate, complete and quick process 

to occur. We also moved from an annual budgeting process to a rolling 

forecast for the business. This gives us more timely information to 

support decision making.

Delivering on our values
In late August 2019, we held a staff conference to agree on vision, plans 

and priorities, with each team sharing their focus for the upcoming year. 

We also held a creative session reviewing and revising our core values. 

Since then, we have identified the observable behaviours that 

indicate the values are being implemented. In the coming year, we 

will incorporate the values and behaviours into our Performance 

Development process.



CWH is a charity with a  
purpose to build stronger 
communities and improve 
people’s lives by providing 
affordable housing
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  BUILDING LOCAL  
       CONNECTIONS



Eora Nation 

The artwork captures the Eora Nation and the many waterways, sacred 
places and the clans that make up the Eora nation. A male and female 
Goanna, sacred to some clans across the nation, wander across the land 
peacefully searching for food and fresh water. The artwork allows us to 
reflect on the many tracks that connected the clans together through the 
year, coming together for gatherings and sacred ceremonies. The colours 
capture the colour of the land, its waterways and the natural environment. 

GRAHAM TOOMEY
Eora Journey

Wurramunga Clan of Wiradjuri 
nation/ Wongaibon nation
Member Metropolitan Local 
Aboriginal Land Council.
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City West Housing (CWH) resides on Gadigal Country. 

CWH wishes to acknowledge the Gadigal people as 

being the traditional custodians of the land and its water.

CWH recognises that the Gadigal people have a 

continuing connection to their land, its water and  

to their culture. 

We pay our deepest respects to their elders, past, 

present and emerging.
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The Directors of City West Housing Pty Ltd present their report on the company for the year ended 30 June 2020.

Board of Directors
At 30 June 2020 there were seven Directors on the 
Board of City West Housing Pty Ltd.

The Board met on 8 occasions during the period.

The names of each person who has been a director 
during the year and to the date of this report are:

Mike Rollo appointed 26 August 2010,  
re-appointed October 2013, 
December 2015, December 2018 and 
resigned 30 June 2020

Tim Ambler appointed 3 December 2015,  
re-appointed December 2018

Cliff Haynes appointed 28 February 2017 and  
re-appointed December 2019

Marcia Doheny appointed 4 April 2017 and  
re-appointed December 2019

Rebecca Richardson  appointed 4 April 2017 and  
re-appointed December 2019

Diana D'Ambra appointed 6 December 2018

Maree Walk appointed 6 December 2018

Diana D'Ambra  was appointed as Chair of the  
Board on 18 June 2020.

Principal Activities
The principal activity of the company during the 
course of the financial year was the provision and 
management of affordable rental properties in 
Sydney. There was no significant change in the 
company’s activities during the year.

Review of Operations
The surplus for the year ended 30 June 2020 was 
$23,739,931 (2019: $16,975,446). 

During the year the company managed a portfolio of 
894 apartments, selling 2 strata units in complexes 
not owned by the company. At 30 June 2020 the total 
number of apartments in the portfolio was 894 . 
The construction of 99 apartments in Glebe and 75 
apartments in Forest Lodge was completed during 
the financial year.

The company acknowledges the support of our 
Ordinary and Preference Shareholders.

Dividends
The company is a not for profit organisation and is 
prevented by its constitution from paying dividends.
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Information on Directors

MIKE ROLLO 
Chair until 30 June 2020

Qualifications
B. Eng (Civil); MBA; FAICD; FIEAust; FAIM

Expertise
More than 35 years’ experience in project 
management and commercial transaction 
management in the property development and 
engineering infrastructure sectors.

Background
Former Chief Risk Officer, Cimic Group Limited, 
Director of WatermanBurns Associates Pty Ltd.

Committee Membership
None.

TIM AMBLER 
Director

Qualifications
B. Econ, GAICD

Expertise
More than 30 years’ experience in the development, 
funds management and construction arenas.

Background
Executive Director, Archerfield Capital Partners; 
former Chief Operating Officer for Real Estate 
Development, Valad Property Group; former GM 
southern region, Walter Construction Group.

Committee Membership
Chair Development & Asset Management.



CWH Financial statements 2020

City west housing 

Directors’ report
For the year ended 30 June 2020

ABN 47 065 314 758
6

CLIFF HAYNES 
Director

Qualifications
B. Comm (Merit); FLGPA; FCPA; MIPAA

Expertise
Executive roles in State and Local Governments. 
Experienced Company Director.

Background
Director AFFORD, a NFP in Disability and Director St 
Vincent de Paul Housing and Chairman, Sutherland 
Council, Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee 
and Independent member Randwick City Council, 
Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee.

Committee Membership
Chair Finance, Audit & Risk.

MARCIA DOHENY 
Director

Qualifications
BA (USyd), LLB (USyd), GAICD

Expertise
Law, Governance, Urban Planning and Development.

Background
More than 30 years' experience practising law and 
senior executive roles with NSW Government and 
City of Sydney Council. Chair of NSW Aboriginal 
Land Council Risk and Audit Committee and 
independent member of risk & audit committees for 
NSW Law Enforcement Conduct Commission, NSW 
Roads and Maritime Services, Rural Fire Services, 
Clinical Excellence Commission and Information  
and Privacy Commission.

Committee Membership
Development & Asset Management and Housing  
& Engagement.
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REBECCA RICHARDSON 
Director

Qualifications
B. Town Planning; Dip Law, Grad Dip Mgmt;  
Financial Analysis Cert; Shared Value Cert; GAICD

Expertise
Urban planning; Housing policy, strategy and 
delivery; Property; Law; Management and Financial 
Analysis; Experienced Company Director.

Background
Managing Director of planning and strategy firm, 
Urbanista Australia Pty Ltd with experience in urban 
renewal, complex projects, financial modelling and 
corporate governance.

Other directorships: Beyond Bank Australia, 
Urbanista Business Solutions Pty Ltd and Halstead 
Press Pty Ltd.

Committee Membership
Chair Housing & Engagement. 

DIANA D'AMBRA 
Director (appointed Chair from 1 July 2020)

Qualifications
FCA; GAICD; B. Com; M.Com   

Expertise
Currently non executive director or independent 
adviser on not for profit and commercial boards 
in property, health services, retail consumer , 
technology and finance sectors. More than 14 years' 
non- executive director board experience.

Background
More than 25 years executive director experience in 
a global accounting firm delivering corporate finance 
and investment advice across a number of industry 
sectors, predominantly  infrastructure , property, 
funds management, financial and health services. 

Committee Membership
Finance, Risk & Audit and Development &  
Asset Management.
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MAREE WALK 
Director

Qualifications
B. Social Work;Grad Cert Screenwriting; Ad Dip Radio Essentials; MAICD, 
Member AASW, AWG

Expertise
Executive experience in Government and Non-Government  over twenty 
years in Family and Community Services and leading Benevolent Society.  
Maree has facilitated numerous government bodies and NGO peak 
bodies such as Families Australia, CAFWA, ACWA and GoodStart's Expert 
Advisory Group.

Background
Human Services in the area of child youth and family services, especially 
child protection, family violence and mental health. Deputy Secretary, 
FACS NSW up till April 2017. Prior to that she was Chief Executive, 
Community Services, NSW.  

Committee Membership
Finance, Risk & Audit and Housing & Engagement.
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Meetings of Directors
During the financial year, seven meetings of Directors were held. Attendances by each Director were as follows:

BOARD 
 MEETING

FINANCE, RISK & 
AUDIT COMMITTEE

DEVELOPMENT & 
ASSET MANAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE

HOUSING & 
ENGAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE

Mike Rollo

Tim Ambler

Cliff Haynes

Marcia Doheny

Rebecca Richardson

Diana D'Ambra

Maree Walk

eligible to attend

attended

8

8

8

8

8

8 3

4

4

7

7

2

2

26

7

8

8

8

8

8

8 4

4

4

7

7

2

2

27

8



CWH Financial statements 2020

City west housing 

Directors’ report
For the year ended 30 June 2020

ABN 47 065 314 758
10

Shareholders
CURRENT SHAREHOLDERS

Ordinary Shareholders
 » NSW Minister Families, Communities and 

Disability Services
 » NSW Treasurer

Preference Shareholders
 » Australian Chinese Community Association of 

NSW Inc.
 » Churches Housing Incorporated
 » City of Sydney
 » Shelter NSW Incorporated
 » The Star Pty Ltd
 » St George Bank Ltd
 » The Uniting Church in Australia Property Trust 

(NSW)
 » Australand Corporation (NSW) Pty Ltd

Environmental Regulation
The company’s operations are not regulated by any 
significant environmental regulation under a law of 
the Commonwealth or a state or territory of Australia.

Change in State of Affairs
During the financial year there was no significant 
change in the state of affairs of the company.

Subsequent Events
There has not been any matter or circumstance, other 
than that referred to in the accounts or notes, that 
has arisen since the end of the financial year, that has 
significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the 
company’s operations, the results of those operations, 
or the company’s state of affairs in financial years after 
the financial year ended 30 June 2020.

Likely Developments and  
Expected Results of Operations  
in Future Years
Likely developments in the entity’s operation in 
future financial years are not expected to significantly 
affect the expected results of the company.

Indemnities
The company has paid premiums to insure Directors 
under a Directors and Officers policy. The company 
has given a Deed of Access, Indemnity and Insurance 
to each Director. No other indemnities were provided 
to any Officer, Director or the Auditors.
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration
The Auditor’s Independence Declaration for the year ended 30 June 2020 
has been received and can be found on page 12 of the financial report.

This report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors 
made pursuant to section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.

Diana D'Ambra 
Chair

Dated this 24th day of September 2020



CWH Financial statements 2020

City west housing 

For the year ended 30 June 2020

ABN 47 065 314 758
12

Auditor's Independence Declaration
 

 
 

 

 

To the Directors 
City West Housing Pty Limited 

 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

 

As auditor for the audit of the financial report of City West Housing Pty Limited for the year ended 
30 June 2020, I declare, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions 
of: 

• the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit 
• any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 

 

 

Sally Bond 
Director, Financial Audit Services 

Delegate of the Auditor-General for New South Wales 

 

23 September 2020 
SYDNEY 

 

Level 19, Darling Park Tower 2, 201 Sussex Street, Sydney NSW 2000
GPO Box 12, Sydney NSW 2001 | t 02 9275 7101 | f 02 9275 7179 | mail@audit.nsw.gov.au | audit.nsw.gov.au
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Notes 2020 2019
REVENUE AND EXPENSES $ ’000 $ ’000

Revenue 2 40,342 26,834 
Other income 2 5,722 8,697 
Employee benefits expense 3 (3,030) (2,640)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 3 (9,492) (9,183)
Rental management expenses 3 (4,356) (4,710)
Sundry expenses 3 (1,701) (2,122)
Gain/ (Loss) on disposal of property, plant & equipment 3 235 99 

NET SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 27,720 16,975 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Net surplus for the year 27,720 16,975 
Gain/(Loss) on revaluation or devaluation of property, plant & equipment 6 (47,424) (14,978)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR (19,704) 1,997 

For the year ended 30 June 2020

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS  
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Notes 2020 2019
ASSETS $ ’000 $ ’000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4 198,279 212,873 
Receivables 5 23,247 15,391 
Total current assets 221,526 228,264 

Non current assets
Property, plant and equipment 6 443,167 458,959 
Intangibles 7 154 162 
Lease asset 6 6  - 
Total non-current assets 443,327  459,121 

TOTAL ASSETS 664,853 687,385 

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 8 2,708 5,609 
Employee provisions 9 205 138 
Lease liability 6 6  - 
Total current liabilities 2,919 5,747 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,919 5,747 

NET ASSETS 661,934 681,638 

EQUITY
Retained surplus 458,546 430,826 
Asset revaluation reserve 203,388 250,812 

TOTAL EQUITY 661,934 681,638 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Notes
RETAINED 
SURPLUS

REVALUATION 
SURPLUS

FINANCIAL 
ASSETS 

RESERVE TOTAL 
$ ’000 $ ’000 $ ’000 $ ’000

Balance at 1 July 2018 413,851 265,790  - 679,641 
Comprehensive income  - 
Surplus for the year 16,975 16,975 
Other comprehensive income for the year 
Devaluation of land 6 (10,476) (10,476)
Devaluation of buildings 6 (4,502) (4,502)
Total other comprehensive income  - (14,978)  - (14,978)
Total comprehensive income 16,975 (14,978)  - 1,997 

Balance at 30 June 2019 430,826 250,812  - 681,638 

Balance at 1 July 2019 430,826 250,812  - 681,638 
Comprehensive income
Surplus for the year 27,720 27,720 
Other comprehensive income for the year
Devaluation of land 6 (8,899) (8,899)
Devaluation of buildings 6 (38,525) (38,525)
Total other comprehensive income  - (47,424)  - (47,424)
Total comprehensive income 27,720 (47,424)  - (19,704)

Balance at 30 June 2020 458,546 203,388  - 661,934 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS

Notes 2020 2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ ’000 $ ’000

Receipts from contributions, rental and other  32,622  35,841 
Payments to suppliers (11,348) (9,457)
Interest received  4,762  4,694 

Net cash flows from operating activities 14  26,036  31,078 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for property, plant and equipment (41,872) (35,114)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  1,242  1,382 
Net cash flows from investing activities (40,630) (33,732)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (14,594) (2,654)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  212,873  215,527 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 4  198,279  212,873 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statement of Reporting Entity
The company’s principal activity in the course of the financial year was the provision of affordable housing 
for very low to moderate income earners. The company’s registered address at the date of these Financial 
Statements is Suite G01, Building B, 33-35 Saunders Street, Pyrmont NSW 2009. 

Note 1 Summary of Accounting Policies 

a) Basis of preparation

The Financial Statements are general-purpose 
financial statements prepared on a going 
concern basis in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards (which include Australian 
Accounting Interpretations), the Public Finance 
and Audit Act 1983 and Regulation and the 
Corporations Act 2001.

The Financial Statements are presented in 
Australian dollars and all values are rounded to 
the nearest thousand dollars.

Property, plant and equipment and financial 
assets at "fair value through profit or loss" are 
measured at fair value. Other financial statement 
items are prepared in accordance with the 
historical cost convention.

Judgements, key assumptions and estimations 
that management has made are disclosed in the 
relevant notes to the financial statements.

b) Statement of Compliance

The Financial Statements have been prepared 
on an accruals basis and are based on historical 
costs, modified where applicable by the 
measurement at fair value of selected non 
current assets. The Financial Statements 
and notes comply with Australian Accounting 
Standards which include Australian Accounting 
Interpretations, some of which contain 
requirements specific for not-for-profit entities 
that are inconsistent with IFRS requirements. 
Accounting policies adopted in the preparation 
of these financial statements are presented 
below and have been consistently applied unless 
otherwise stated.

c) Income Tax

The Company has been endorsed as an Income 
Tax Exempt Charitable Entity under Subdivision 
50-B of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.
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Note 1 Summary of Accounting Policies continued

d) Property, Plant and Equipment

i)  Acquisition of assets

The cost method of accounting is used for the 
initial recording of all acquisitions of assets 
controlled by the company. Cost is the amount of 
cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of 
the other consideration given to acquire the asset 
at the time of its acquisition or construction or, 
where applicable the amount attributed to that 
asset when initially recognised in accordance 
with the requirements of other Australian 
Accounting Standards. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the company and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. All repairs and maintenance 
are recognised as expenses in profit or loss in the 
financial period in which they are incurred.

Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal 
consideration, are initially recognised at their fair 
value at the date of acquisition.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could 
be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing 
parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Where payment for an asset is deferred beyond 
normal credit terms, its cost is the cash price 
equivalent, i.e. deferred payment amount is 
effectively discounted at an asset-specific rate. 

ii)  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Land is not a depreciable asset. Depreciation 
is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

 » Buildings – 40 years
 » Fixtures and Fittings related to buildings - 

from 5 to 25 years
 » Office Equipment – from 3 to 7 years

iii)  Capitalisation thresholds

Property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets costing $1,000 and above individually are 
capitalised.

iv)  Revaluation of property plant and equipment

Physical non-current assets are valued at fair 
value in accordance with AASB 13 Fair Value 
Measurement and AASB 116 Property, Plant 
and Equipment.

Property plant and equipment is measured 
on an existing use basis, where there are no 
feasible alternative uses in the existing natural, 
legal, financial and socio-political environment. 
However, in the circumstances where there are 
feasible alternative uses, assets are valued at 
their highest and best use.

Fair value of land and buildings is determined 
based on the best available market evidence, 
including current market selling prices for the 
same or similar assets. Where there is no available 
market evidence, the asset’s fair value is measured 
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Note 1 Summary of Accounting Policies continued

at its market buying price, the best indicator of 
which is depreciated replacement cost.

The company revalues land and buildings at least 
every three years or with sufficient regularity to 
ensure that the carrying amount of each asset in 
the classes do not differ materially from its fair 
value at reporting date. 

Non-specialised assets with short useful lives 
are measured at depreciated historical cost, as a 
surrogate for fair value.

When revaluing non-current assets by reference 
to current prices for assets newer than those 
being revalued (adjusted to reflect the present 
condition of the assets), the gross amount 
and the related accumulated depreciation are 
separately restated.

For other assets, any balances of accumulated 
depreciation at the revaluation date in respect of 
those assets are credited to the asset accounts 
to which they relate. The net asset accounts are 
then increased or decreased by the revaluation 
increments or decrements.

Revaluation increments are credited directly to the 
asset revaluation reserve, except that, to the extent 
that an increment reverses a revaluation decrement 
in respect of that class of asset previously 
recognised as an expense in the surplus/deficit, the 
increment is recognised immediately as revenue in 
the net result.

Revaluation decrements are recognised 
immediately as expenses in the net result, except 
that, to the extent that a credit balance exists in 
the asset revaluation reserve in respect of the 
same class of assets, they are debited directly to 
the asset revaluation reserve.

As a not-for-profit entity, revaluation increments and 
decrements are offset against one another within a 
class of non-current assets, but not otherwise.

Where an asset that has previously been revalued 
is disposed of, any balance remaining in the asset 
revaluation reserve in respect of that asset is 
transferred to accumulated funds.

v) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

As a not-for-profit entity with no cash generating 
units, the company is effectively exempted from 
AASB 136 Impairment of Assets and impairment 
testing. This is because AASB 136 modifies the 
recoverable amount test to the higher of fair value 
less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost. 
This means that, for an asset already measured at fair 
value, impairment can only arise if selling costs are 
material. Selling costs are regarded as immaterial. 

vi)  Maintenance

Day to day servicing costs or maintenance are 
charged as expenses as incurred, except where 
they relate to the replacement of a part or 
component of an asset, in which case the costs 
are capitalised and depreciated.
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Note 1 Summary of Accounting Policies continued

e) Leases

"In the current year, the Company has applied 
AASB 16 Leases, which is effective for annual 
periods that begin on or after 1 January 
2019. AASB 16 introduces new or amended 
requirements with respect to lease accounting. 
It introduces significant changes to lessee 
accounting by removing the distinction between 
operating and finance leases and requiring the 
recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease 
liability at commencement for all leases, except for 
short-term leases and leases of low value assets. 
In contrast to lessee accounting, the requirements 
for lessor accounting have remained largely 
unchanged. The impact of the adoption of AASB 
16 on the Company’s financial statements is not 
material. The date of initial application of AASB 16 
for the Group is 1 July 2019.

The change in definition of a lease mainly relates 
to the concept of control. AASB 16 determines 
whether a contract contains a lease on the 
basis of whether the customer has the right to 
control the use of an identified asset for a period 
of time in exchange for consideration. AASB 
16 changes how the Company accounts for 
leases previously classified as operating leases 
under AASB 117, which were off balance sheet. 
Applying AASB 16, for all leases (except as 
noted below), the company recognises right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities in the statement 
of financial position, initially measured at the 
present value of the future lease payments, 

recognises depreciation of right-of-use assets 
and interest on lease liabilities in profit or loss 
and separates the total amount of cash paid into 
a principal portion (presented within financing 
activities) and interest (presented within 
financing activities) in the statement of cash 
flows. In relation to leases that had previously 
been classified as ‘operating leases’ under AASB 
117, a lease liability is recognised on 30 June 
2020 at the present value of the remaining lease 
payments, discounted using NSW Treasury’s 
incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial 
application. The incremental borrowing rate 
applied to the lease liabilities was 1.41%.

For short-term leases (lease term of 12 months 
or less) and leases of low-value assets, the 
Company has opted to recognise a lease 
expense on a straight-line basis as permitted 
by AASB 16. This expense is presented within 
‘other expenses’ in profit or loss.  Note 6(e) 
details the new asset and liability. The impact 
on the profit and loss, balance sheet and 
cashflow are not material for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2020.
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f) Employee Benefits and Other Provisions

i) Salaries and wages, annual leave and  on costs

Liabilities for salaries and wages (including 
non-monetary benefits) and annual leave that 
are due to be settled within 12 months of the 
reporting date are recognised and measured in 
respect of employees’ services up to the end of 
the period in which the employees render the 
service at undiscounted amounts based on the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled. Consideration is given to expected 
future salary levels and periods of service.

Long-term annual leave that is not expected 
to be taken within twelve months is measured 
at present value in accordance with AASB 119 
Employee Benefits. Market yields on government 
bonds at reporting date are used to discount 
long-term annual leave. These obligations are 
presented as current liabilities in the Statement 
of Financial Position if the entity does not have an 
unconditional right to delay settlement for at least 
twelve months after reporting date regardless of 
when settlement is expected to occur.

The outstanding amounts of payroll tax, 
workers’ compensation, insurance premiums 
and fringe benefits tax, which are consequential 
to employment, are recognised as liabilities and 
expenses where the employee benefits to which 
they relate have been recognised.

Termination benefits are payable within 12 
months of the termination benefits.

ii)  Long service leave and superannuation

Provisions made in respect of long service leave 
and other employee entitlements, which are not 
expected to be settled within 12 months, are 
measured at the present value of the estimated 
future cash outflows to be made by the company 
in respect of services provided by employees 
up to reporting date. Rates used to calculate 
the present value are Reserve Bank indicator 
mid-rates for Commonwealth Bonds as at year 
end. Consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures and periods of service.

The company has no unfunded superannuation 
liability and  has no employees in defined 
benefit schemes.
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g) Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration or contribution received or 
receivable. Additional comments regarding the 
accounting policies for the recognition of income 
are discussed below.

i) Rental revenue

Rental revenue is recognised on an accruals basis 
on the first day of the rental period.  

ii) Grants and contributions

Non-reciprocal grant revenue is recognised in 
profit or loss when the company obtains control 
of the grant and it is probable that the economic 
benefits gained from the grant will flow to the 
company and the amount of the grant can be 
measured reliably. 

If conditions are attached to the grant which 
must be satisfied before it is eligible to receive 
the contribution, the recognition of the grant as 
revenue will be deferred until those conditions 
are satisfied.

Developer contributions are recognised when 
either received or receivable by the company or 
trustee government intermediary.

City West Housing Pty Ltd receives non-
reciprocal contributions of assets from other 
parties for zero or a nominal value.  These 
assets are recognised at fair value on the date 
of acquisition in the statement of financial 

position, with a corresponding amount of income 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income.

iii) Investment revenue

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective 
interest method as set out in AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

h) Receivables

Accounts receivable comprise rents owing from 
tenants. These amounts are due within 14 days 
and no interest is applicable to outstanding 
amounts. Bad debts are assessed annually 
and written off. An allowance for impairment 
is recognised where there is evidence the 
receivable is not recoverable.

Development contributions received on behalf 
of City West Housing by the Department of 
Planning, Industry and Environment (DPIE) 
are also included. All affordable development 
contributions are taken up as income when the 
monies are received by DPIE in a trust account. 
Funds are regularly requested to be paid across 
to the company.

These financial assets are recognised initially 
at fair value, usually based on the transaction 
cost or face value. Subsequent measurement 
is at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Changes are recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income when impaired, 
derecognised or through the amortisation process. 
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Short term receivables with no stated interest rate 
are measured at the original invoice amount where 
the effect of discounting is immaterial. 

i) Payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods 
and services provided to the company and other 
amounts. Payables are recognised initially at 
fair value, usually based on the transaction 
cost or face value. Subsequent measurement 
is at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Short-term payables with no stated 
interest rate are measured at original invoice 
amount where the effect of discounting is 
immaterial. Payables are recognised for amounts 
to be paid in the future for goods and services 
received, whether or not billed to the company.

j) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, 
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities 
of 12 months or less.

k) Insurance

The Company’s insurance activities are conducted 
through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund Scheme 
of self insurance for Government agencies. The 
expense (premium) is determined by the Fund 
Manager based on past claim experience.

l) Accounting for Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of 
the amount of GST, except that the amount of GST 
incurred by the company as a purchaser that is not 
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office 
is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 
of an asset or as part of an item of expense and 
receivables and payables are stated with the 
amount of GST included.

Cash flows are included in the statement of 
cash flows on a gross basis. However, the GST 
components of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities which is recoverable 
from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office 
are classified as operating cash flows.

m) Intangible Assets

The Company recognises intangible assets only 
if it is probable that future economic benefits will 
flow to the Company and the cost of the asset can 
be measured reliably. The useful lives of intangible 
assets are assessed to be finite. Intangible assets 
are measured at cost and are amortised using the 
straight line method over a period of 2 to 3 years.

n) Other Financial Assets

Investments are initially recognised at fair value 
plus, in the case of investments not at fair value 
through profit or loss, transaction costs. The 
entity determines the classification of its financial 
assets after initial recognition and, when allowed 
and appropriate, re-evaluates this at each 
financial year end.
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Held-to-maturity Investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturity that 
the entity has the positive intention and ability 
to hold to maturity are classified as ‘held-to-
maturity’. These investments are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Changes are recognised in the net result 
for the year when impaired, derecognised or 
through the amortisation process.

Held-to-maturity investments consist of short-
term deposits with maturity profiles of between 
90 to 180 days.

o)  Impairment of Financial Assets

All financial assets, except those measured at fair 
value through profit and loss, are subject to an 
annual review for impairment. An allowance for 
impairment is established when there is objective 
evidence that the Company will not be able to 
collect all amounts due.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, 
the amount of the allowance is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the effective interest rate. The 
amount of the impairment loss is recognised in 
the net result for the year.

Any reversals of impairment losses are reversed 
through the net result for the year, where there 
is objective evidence. Reversals of impairment 
losses of financial assets carried at amortised 
cost cannot result in a carrying amount that 
exceeds what the carrying amount would have 
been had there not been an impairment loss.
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p) Equity and Reserves

i) Asset revaluation surplus

The revaluation surplus is used to record 
increments and decrements on the revaluation 
of property, plant & equipment. This accords 
with the company's policy on the revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment as discussed in 
note 1(d)(iv).

ii) Retained surplus

The category 'Retained Surplus' includes all 
current and prior period retained funds.

q) Comparative Information

Except when an Australian Accounting Standard 
permits or requires otherwise, comparative 
information is disclosed in respect of the 
previous period for all amounts reported in the 
financial statements.

r) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

The Directors evaluate estimates and judgments 
incorporated into the financial report based on 
historical knowledge and best available current 
information. Estimates assume a reasonable 
expectation of future events and based on 
current trends and economic data, obtained both 
externally and within the company.

At the end of each reporting period, the directors 
update their assessment of the fair value of 
each property, taking into account the most 
recent independent valuations and analysis 
of land and buildings by suburb. Independent 
valuations are performed by independent valuers 
who hold recognised and relevant professional 
qualifications. No other key estimates and 
judgements are made in the financial report.

s) New and amended standards adopted by the 
company

The Company has adopted all of the new and 
revised Standards and Interpretations issued 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(AASB) that are relevant to its operations and 
effective for an accounting period that begins on 
or after 1 July 2019. New and revised Standards 
and amendments thereof and Interpretations 
effective for the current year that are relevant to 
the company are AASB 16 Leases.
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Note 2 Revenue and Other Income

2020 2019

REVENUE  $ ’000 $ ’000

Residential and commercial developer contributions in City of Sydney 30,106 16,791 
Rental income 10,236 10,043 
Total revenue 40,342 26,834 

OTHER INCOME
Interest revenue  3,683 5,565 
Other Income 195 1,517 
Commonwealth National Rental Affordability Scheme Incentives 1,697 1,464 
Water usage revenue 147 151 
Total other income 5,722 8,697 

TOTAL REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 46,064 35,531 
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Note 3 Expenses

2020 2019
$ ’000 $ ’000

Rental management expenses  
Repairs and maintenance 2,402 2,788 
Council and water rates 1,102 1,050 
Other 852 872 
Total rental management expenses 4,356 4,710 

Employee benefits expense

Employee related expenses 3,727 3,145 

Amounts transferred to capital (697) (505)

Net employee related expense 3,030 2,640 

Depreciation and amortisation:
Land and buildings 8,262 8,188 
Furniture and fittings 1,112 902 
Office equipment 37 35 
Software amortisation 81 58 
Total depreciation and amortisation 9,492 9,183 

Sundry expenses
Bad debts 27 53 
Credit Loss Allowance (5) (26)
Administration 1,655 2,090 
Fixed assets written off 24 5 
Total other expenses 1,701 2,122 

TOTAL EXPENSES 18,579 18,655 

Gain on disposal

Gain on disposal of property, plant & equipment 235 99 
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2020 2019
$ ’000 $ ’000

Cash at bank and in hand 3,043 3,075 
At call deposit 2,193 3,805 
Term deposits 193,043 205,993 
TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 198,279 212,873 

Note 4 Cash and Cash Equivalents
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2020 2019
$ ’000 $ ’000

Current
Accounts receivable 23,205 13,780 
Deposits Paid 60 700 
Allowance for credit losses (54) (59)
Total current receivables 23,211 14,421 

Other Receivables
Prepayments 36 37 
Goods & Services Tax (GST) recoverable  - 933 
Total other receivables 36 970 

TOTAL CURRENT RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23,247 15,391 

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including financial 
assets that are either past due or impaired are disclosed in Note 15.

(a) Allowance for credit losses
Movement in the provision for doubtful debts is as follows:

Provision for doubtful debts as at 1 July 2018 85  
Increase in allowance for impairment (26)
Written off -
Provision for doubtful debts as at 30 June 2019 59  
Decrease in allowance for credit losses (5)
Written off -
Allowance for credit losses as at 30 June 2020 54  

Note 5 Trade and Other Receivables
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Note 6 Property, Plant & Equipment

2020 2019
LAND AND BUILDINGS $ ’000 $ ’000

Freehold land at fair value 217,678 216,526 
Total land 217,678 216,526 

Buildings at fair value 210,895 191,468 
Total buildings 210,895 191,468 

Total land and buildings 428,573 407,994 

FIXTURES & FITTINGS

Fixtures & fittings 24,111 16,926 
Less accumulated depreciation (10,535) (9,435)
Total fixtures & fittings 13,576 7,491 

BUILDINGS UNDER CONSTRUCTION
Buildings under construction 929 43,386 
Total buildings under construction 929 43,386 

OFFICE EQUIPMENT
Office equipment 342 303 
Less accumulated depreciation (253) (215)

89 88 

TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 443,167 458,959 
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Note 6 Property, Plant & Equipment

a) The company practice is to engage an independent 
valuation of land and buildings at least every three years.

b) For the 2020 interim financial year the directors requested 
updated valuations of a selection of properties by an 
external valuer. These updated valuations were reviewed 
against the remaining properties in the portfolio. 

c) The assessment of fair value resulted in a devaluation of 
$47.4m being recognised in the revaluation reserve for 
the year ended 30 June 2020. Of this devaluation amount 
$36.2m related to two properties totalling 174 apartments 
that completed construction during the financial year. 
Both of these properties have restrictions on title 
requiring the properties to be maintained as affordable 
housing in perpetuity and one of the properties requires 
22 apartments to be rented as social housing. This 
impacted the fair value assessment of these properties.

d) Buildings are depreciated throughout the year. At year 
end, as part of the revaluation, the depreciation is 
reversed in the balance sheet to the asset and credited to 
the asset revaluation reserve.
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Note 6 Property, Plant & Equipment

LAND BUILDINGS
FIXTURES  

& FITTINGS
$ ’000 $ ’000 $ ’000

2020
Balance at the beginning of the year 216,526 191,468 7,491 
Additions at cost 10,501 145 1,824 
Transfers  - 66,592 5,397 
Disposals (450) (523) (24)
Revaluations (8,899) (38,525)  - 
Depreciation expense (8,262) (1,112)
Carrying amount at the end of the year 217,678 210,895 13,576 

2020 2019
$ ’000 $ ’000

(e) Allowance for credit losses
Right-of use Assets 6 -
Equipment Lease 6  - 

Lease Liabilities (6) -
Equipment Lease (6)  - 

BUILDINGS UNDER 
CONSTRUCTION

OFFICE 
EQUIPMENT TOTAL

$ ’000 $ ’000 $ ’000

2020
Balance at the beginning of the year 43,386 88 458,959 
Additions at cost 29,532 38 42,040 
Transfers (71,989)  -  - 
Disposals  -  - (997)
Revaluations  -  - (47,424)
Depreciation expense  - (37) (9,411)
Carrying amount at the end of the year 929 89 443,167 
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LAND BUILDINGS
FIXTURES  

& FITTINGS
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Revaluations (8,899) (38,525)  - 
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Lease Liabilities (6) -
Equipment Lease (6)  - 
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Note 7  Intangible Assets

2020 2019
$ ’000 $ ’000

Software  
At cost 424 352 
Software - Accumulated depreciation (271) (190)
Net carrying amount 153 162 

Movements in Carrying Amount

Balance at the beginning of the year 162 205 
Additions 73 14 
Disposals  -  - 
Amortisation charge (82) (57)
Impairment losses  -  - 
Carrying amount at the end of the year 153 162 
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Note 8  Trade and Other Payables

2020 2019
$ ’000 $ ’000

Trade creditors and operating acccruals 1,243 4,912 
Rent received in advance 724 458 
Goods & Services Tax (GST) payable 591  - 
Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 150 106 
Accrued capital expenditure  - 133 
Total trade and other payables 2,708 5,609 

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including a maturity 
analysis of the above payables are disclosed in Note 15.

Note 9  Provisions

Provision for employee benefits: annual leave 163 109 
Provision for employee benefits: long service leave 42 29 
Total current provisions 205 138 

TOTAL PROVISIONS 205 138 

Employee Provisions     

Employee provisions represents amounts accrued for annual leave and long 
service leave.

The current portion for this provision includes the total amount accrued 
for annual leave entitlements and the amounts accrued for long service 
leave entitlements that have vested due to employees having completed 
the required period of service. Based on past experience, the company does 
not expect the full amount of annual leave or long service leave balances 
classified as current liabilities to be settled within the next 12 months. 
However, these amounts must be classified as current liabilities since the 
company does not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of 
these amounts in the event employees wish to use their leave entitlement.
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Note 10  Contributed Equity

2020 2019
$ ’000 $ ’000

(a) Authorised capital  
100,000,000 shares @ $1.00 each 100,000 100,000 

100,000 100,000 

(b) Issued capital
2 Ordinary shares of $1.00 each fully paid 2 2 
8 Redeemable Preference shares of $1.00 each fully paid 8 8 

The redeemable preference shares are redeemable at the option of the 
shareholder or the company. 

Note 11  Related Party Transactions
Key Management Personnel (KMP)  

Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the company, 
directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) is considered key management personnel.

The totals of remuneration paid to KMP of the company during the year are as follows:

Key Management Personnel compensation:  
Short-term employee benefits 663 660 
Other long-term benefits  -  - 
Termination benefits  -  - 

663 660 

Note 12  Auditor's Remuneration

The auditor of City West Housing Pty Ltd is the Audit Office of NSW
Audit of the financial statements 48 42 
No other benefits were received by the auditors during the financial year.
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Note 13  Commitments

2020 2019
$ ’000 $ ’000

Capital expenditure commitments
Aggregate capital expenditure for the acquisition of property, plant & equipment 
contracted for at balance date and not provided for.

No later than one year 1,149 24,060 
More than one year  - -

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS 1,149 24,060 

Operating lease commitment receivables
The company owns 11 commercial spaces. Lease terms are generally for periods of 3 
to 5 years with options for a further equivalent term. Future minimum rental revenues 
under non-cancellable operating retail or commercial property leases not provided 
for and payable.

No later than one year 541 555 
More than one year 681 675 

TOTAL OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT RECEIVABLES 1,222 1,230 

GST payable to the ATO of $49,226 is included in the above figure ($50,287 in 2019).

Operating lease commitment payable
The company signed a lease for commercial office space on 26 July 2020 with a lease 
commencement date of 1 September 2020.  Future minimum lease payments under 
non-cancellable operating commercial property lease not provided for or payable. 

No later than one year 341  - 
Later than one but not later than five years 1,778  - 
Greater than five years 566  - 

TOTAL OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT PAYABLE 2,685  - 
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Note 14  Cash Flow Information

2020 2019
$ ’000 $ ’000

Reconciliation of Cash Flows from Operating Activities  
with Net Current Year Surplus

Net surplus for the year 27,721 16,975 
Gain in disposal of property, plant & equipment (235) (99)
Depreciation and amortisation 9,492 9,183 
Fixed asset written off 24 5 
Doubtful debts expense (5) (26)
Bad debts written off 27 53 
Costs capitalised (697) (505)
(Increase)/ decrease in receivables (7,869) 4,398 
Increase/(decrease) in payables (2,489) 1,059 
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 67 35

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 26,036 31,078 
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The company's principal financial instruments are the financial statements.
outlined below. These financial instruments arise 

The Board and Audit & Risk Committee have overall directly from the company's operations or are 
required to finance those operations. The company responsibility for the establishment and oversight 

does not enter into or trade financial instruments for of risk management and review and agree policies 

speculative purposes. for managing each of these risks. Risk management 

policies are established to identify and analyse the 
The company's main risks arising from financial 

risks faced by the company to set risk limits and instruments are outlined below, together with the 
controls and to monitor risks. Compliance with company's objectives, policies and processes for 

measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative policies is reviewed by the company through monthly 

and qualitative disclosures are included throughout reporting to the Board.

a) Financial instrument categories

Category Notes 2020
$ ’000

2019
$ ’000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Receivables1

Not applicable

Loans and receivables (at cost)

4

5

198,279 
23,211 

212,873 
14,421 

Financial assets

Payables 2
Financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost 8 1,393 5,151 

1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).

2. Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).

Note 15 Financial Risk Management
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Financial Risk Management Policies
The Audit & Risk Committee is responsible for 
monitoring and managing the company's compliance 
with its risk management strategy and consists of 
three Board members. The Audit & Risk Committee’s 
overall risk management strategy is to assist the 
company in meeting its financial targets while 
minimising potential adverse effects on financial 
performance. Risk management policies are approved 
and reviewed by the Audit & Risk Committee on a 
regular basis. These include credit risk policies and 
future cash flow requirements.

Specific Financial Risk Exposures and Management
The main risks the company are exposed to through 
its financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity 
risk and market risk relating to interest rate risk and 
other price risk. There have been no substantive 
changes in the types of risks the company is exposed 
to, how these risks arise, or the Board's objectives, 
policies and processes for managing or measuring 
the risks from the previous period.

b) Credit Risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the 
company's debtors defaulting on their contractual 
obligations resulting in a financial loss to the company. 
The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally 
represented by the carrying amount of the financial 
assets (net of any allowance for impairment).

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the 
company, including cash, receivables and deposits. 
No collateral is held by the company. The company 

has not granted any financial guarantees.

Credit risk associated with the company's financial 
assets, other than receivables, is managed through 
the careful selection of counterparties and the 
establishment of minimum credit rating standards.

Cash
Cash comprises, cash on hand and bank balances with 
the Commonwealth Bank, Westpac Banking Corporation 
and National Australia Bank. Interest is earned on 
monthly bank balances at the average cash rate and on 
term deposits at the interest rate on settlement.

Receivables - Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable (rental debtors) become due on 
the first day of the fortnight for which they are billed. 
The company has a collection procedure which is 
reviewed and assessed annually. The company makes 
use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade 
and other receivables and records the loss allowance 
at the amount equal to the expected lifetime credit 
losses. In using this practical expedient, the company 
uses its historical experience, external indicators 
and forward-looking information to calculate the 
expected credit losses. A specific provision is raised 
for debts if the recoverability is deemed doubtful. 
Debts are written off when deemed not recoverable. 
Accordingly, other than the debts provided for as 
doubtful, no other allowance for impairment is 
deemed necessary nor is there any evidence that the 
company will not be able to collect all other amounts 
due. No interest is earned on outstanding debtors.

Note 15 Financial Risk Management
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Receivable - Sundry debtors
In 2020, a significant debt of $13,055,984 (2019 $10,015,909) is owed by the NSW Department of Planning, 
Industry and Environment in respect of Affordable Housing Developer Contributions which it holds as trustee for 
City West Housing Pty Limited. The company is not materially exposed to concentrations of credit risk to any other 
single debtor or group of debtors. 

Note 15 Financial Risk Management

2020 2019
$ ’000 $ ’000

Sundry Debtors 15,773 13,516 

The sundry debtors are not considered impaired and are not past due.

c) Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will be unable 
to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. 
The company continuously manages risk through 
monitoring future cash flows and maturities planning to 
ensure adequate holding of high quality liquid assets. 
The company has no borrowings and its liquidity risk 
relates to the management of operational and capital 
trade creditors. During periods of construction, capital 
creditors can be relatively high in relation to operating 
creditors and these are managed through careful 
placement of investments whose maturities are timed 
to coincide with the payment of capital creditors.

The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to 
be paid in the future for goods or services received, 
whether or not invoiced. Amounts owing to suppliers 
in 2020 were $779,324 (2019 $4,691,022), (which 
are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the 
supplier's terms of trade and the company avails 
of early payment discounts where appropriate. All 
payables at 30 June 2020 mature within 30 days. There 
is no interest applicable to these payables.

d) Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future 
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. The company’s 
exposure to market risk is primarily through interest 
rate risk on the company’s investments. The 
company has no exposure to foreign currency risk 
and does not enter into commodity contracts

The effect on profit and equity due to a reasonably 
possible change in risk variable is outlined in 
the information below, for interest rate risk. A 
reasonably possible change in risk variable has been 
determined after taking into account the economic 
environment in which the company operates and the 
time frame for the assessment (i.e. until the end of 
the next annual reporting period). The analysis is 
based on risk exposures in existence at the reporting 
date. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 
2020. The analysis assumes that all other variables 
remain constant.
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 e) Interest Rate Risk

Weighted  
average effective 

interest rate

Carrying 
 amount

Change in interest  
income as a result of  
+1% in interest rate

Change in interest  
income as a result of  
-1% in interest rate

Surplus Equity Surplus Equity
% $ ’000 $ ’000 $ ’000 $ ’000 $ ’000

2020
Financial Assets

Cash  - 3,043 30 30 (30) (30)
At call deposit 0.65 2,193 22 22 (22) (22)
Term Deposits 1.23 193,043 1,930 1,930 (1,930) (1,930)
Receivables n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Financial liabilities
Trade creditors n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

2019
Financial Assets

Cash  - 3,075 31 31 (31) (31)
At call deposit 1.50 3,805 38 38 (38) (38)
Term Deposits 2.50 205,993 2,060 2,060 (2,060) (2,060)
Accounts receivables n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Financial liabilities
Trade creditors n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Note 15 Financial Risk Management
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Note 15 Financial Risk Management

f) Fair value estimation      

The amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in the statement of financial position approximates the fair 
value because of the short term nature of many of the financial instruments. Financial instruments are classified 
under the revised AASB 7 measurement Tier 1 structure i.e. those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical assets. There has been no movement between Tiers.

The carrying value of trade receivables and payables approximate their fair values due to their short term nature.

Financial assets and liabilities maturity analysis 

TOTAL

Within 1 yr 1-5 yrs  > 5yrs 2020 2019
Assets due for receipt

Cash 198,279 - - 198,279 212,873 
Accounts receivable 23,211 - - 23,211 14,421 
Other Financial Assets  - - -  -  - 

Financial liabilities due for payment
Trade creditors   1,393 - - 1,393 5,151 
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There is no contingent liability at 30 June 2020 and no prior year contingent liability.

The Company has not not identified any events or transactions which 
would give rise to a material impact on the reported results or financial 
position of the company as at 30 June 2020.

The City West Affordable Housing Program and the Green Square 
Affordable Housing Scheme both allow developers to provide bank 
guarantees in lieu of development contributions in order to receive a 
construction certificate. Payment of the development contribution is then 
paid in order to receive an occupation certificate. There is no certainty 
that the projects with Bank Guarantees at 30 June 2020 will be completed 
and payment of the development contribution made. Bank guarantees 
and insurance bonds at 30 June 2020 total $12,936,129 (30 June 2019 
$15,952,142).  

Note 16 Contingent Liabilities

Note 17 Events after balance sheet date

Note 18 Contingent Receivables
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directors' declaration

In the Directors' opinion: 

1) 1) The financial statements and notes, as set 
out on pages 4 to 44 are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001 and:

a)  Comply with Australian Accounting Standards, 
the Corporations Regulations 2001, Public 
Finance and Audit Act 1983, the Public Finance 
and Audit Regulation 2015, Australian Charities 
and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 
and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements, and

b)  Give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of the Company as at 30 June 2020 and of the 
performance for the year ended on that date.

2) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the 
company will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable

This declaration is made in accordance with a 
resolution of the Board of Directors.

Diana D'Ambra 
Chair

Dated this 24th day of September 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
City West Housing Pty Limited 

 

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament and Members of City West Housing Pty Limited 

Opinion 
I have audited the accompanying financial report of City West Housing Pty Limited (the Company), 
which comprises the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the year ended 
30 June 2020, the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2020, the Statement of Changes in 
Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and notes comprising a summary of 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

In my opinion, the financial report: 

• is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
- giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and its 

performance for the year ended on that date 
- complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001 

• is in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and the 
Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015. 

 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report’ section 
of my report. 

I am independent of the Company in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards 
• Corporations Act 2001 
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards)’ (APES 110). 
 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies 
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 
 

Independent Auditor's Report

Level 19, Darling Park Tower 2, 201 Sussex Street, Sydney NSW 2000
GPO Box 12, Sydney NSW 2001 | t 02 9275 7101 | f 02 9275 7179 | mail@audit.nsw.gov.au | audit.nsw.gov.au

City West Housing Pty Limited
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Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report’ section 
of my report. 

I am independent of the Company in accordance with the requirements of the: 
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I confirm the independence declaration, required by the Corporations Act 2001, provided to the 
directors of the Company on 23 September 2020, would be in the same terms if provided to the 
directors as at the time of this Independent Auditor’s Report. 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 

Other Information 
The Company’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020 includes other information in addition 
to the financial report and my Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The directors of the Company are 
responsible for the other information. At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other 
information I have received comprises the Directors’ Report. 

My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. 

In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Report 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the PF&A Act, the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial report. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

  

Independent Auditor's Report

Level 19, Darling Park Tower 2, 201 Sussex Street, Sydney NSW 2000
GPO Box 12, Sydney NSW 2001 | t 02 9275 7101 | f 02 9275 7179 | mail@audit.nsw.gov.au | audit.nsw.gov.au

City West Housing Pty Limited
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I confirm the independence declaration, required by the Corporations Act 2001, provided to the 
directors of the Company on 23 September 2020, would be in the same terms if provided to the 
directors as at the time of this Independent Auditor’s Report. 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 

Other Information 
The Company’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020 includes other information in addition 
to the financial report and my Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The directors of the Company are 
responsible for the other information. At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other 
information I have received comprises the Directors’ Report. 

My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. 

In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Report 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the PF&A Act, the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial report. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

  

Independent Auditor's Report

Level 19, Darling Park Tower 2, 201 Sussex Street, Sydney NSW 2000
GPO Box 12, Sydney NSW 2001 | t 02 9275 7101 | f 02 9275 7179 | mail@audit.nsw.gov.au | audit.nsw.gov.au

City West Housing Pty Limited
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The scope of my audit does not include, nor provide assurance: 

• that the Company carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically 
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial report on 

any website where it may be presented 
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial report. 
 

 

 

 

Sally Bond 
Director, Financial Audit Services 

Delegate of the Auditor-General for New South Wales 

 

25 September 2020 
SYDNEY 
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OUR 

purpose
IS TO BUILD STRONGER 

COMMUNITIES AND IMPROVE 

PEOPLE'S LIVES BY PROVIDING 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING
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CWH HAS FOUR

strategic priorities
DELIVERING GROW TH AND SUSTAINABILIT Y

MANAGING KE Y REL ATIONSHIPS

SUPPORTING OUR PEOPLE

ENGAGING WITH OUR RESIDENTS AND COMMUNITIES



Phone 02 8584 7500

Email enquiries@citywesthousing.com.au
Website citywesthousing.com.au     
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